

**ORIGINAL CORVETTE CLUB**  
**OF ST. LOUIS, INC.**

**BY-LAWS**

**Revised March 2005**

## ARTICLE I

### SECTION 1: NAME

The name of the club shall be "THE ORIGINAL CORVETTE CLUB OF ST. LOUIS, INC."

### SECTION 2: PURPOSE OF THE CLUB

The purpose of the club shall be to encourage ownership or and to foster interest in, the Corvette sports car; to encourage planned trips and social activities for club members; and to promote and encourage careful and skillful motor vehicle operation on public thoroughfares.

## ARTICLE II

### SECTION 1: MEMBERSHIP

Membership in the club shall be restricted to owners of Corvette automobiles and one additional individual per owner. Should a member sell his/her car, he or she may remain a member as long as he or she does not let their dues lapse. This rule is not retroactive as of October 13, 1992, and the only exceptions shall be persons who have held office in the club.

### SECTION 2: MEMBERSHIP STATUS

**A. Active** - Any person duly approved, as provided for in SECTION 1 of this article And having paid the required fees, and attended three meetings and/or club functions in a twelve-month period.

**B. Charter** - All members who organized the Club on July 21, 1979.

**C. Honorary** - Any person who had commended themselves to club esteem and/or has been named an Honorary Member by a majority vote of club members present at any regular meeting.

### SECTION 3: MEMBERSHIP FEES

Effective January, 2004, membership dues for Corvette owner members shall be thirty five dollars per member (\$35.00) annually to include an associate member. This fee is to be paid at or before the December meeting. Honorary members and club sponsors are exempt from these fees. For new members joining after July 1, they will pay \$20 for the balance of the calendar year. Previous active members will pay thirty-five (\$35.00) any time during the year.

#### SECTION 4: PRIVILEGES

Active members are entitled to all privileges offered by the club. Honorary members are entitled to all club privileges except the right to vote or hold office.

#### SECTION 5: EXPULSION

A. Membership will automatically lapse when fees are thirty days in arrears. If payment has not been received in the allotted time, membership will be terminated.

B. Any member may be expelled for an infraction of club rules or for such other reasons that a majority of the club officers feel are in opposition to the best interests of the club. A member being considered for expulsion, except for nonpayment of dues, shall be notified in writing of the impending expulsion and shall have the right to defend his/her actions in writing or in person before the officers.

#### SECTION 6: RESIGNATION

A member may resign at any time by submitting a letter of resignation to any officer of the club. His/her resignation shall be effective immediately upon receipt of the letter. There shall be no refund of any portion of membership fees.

### **ARTICLE III**

#### SECTION 1: ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of the club shall be held the second Tuesday of December for the purpose of electing officers for the coming year, and to conduct the regular monthly meeting.

#### SECTION 2: MONTHLY MEETINGS

Regular monthly meetings shall be held on the second Tuesday of each month at 7:30 P.M. at a location of the officers' choosing. All members shall be notified in advance as to the location where the meeting is to be held. These meetings are open to members, invited guests, and other interested parties.

#### SECTION 3: SPECIAL MEETINGS

Special meetings may be called by the President or by a majority of the officers. All members shall be notified in advance of any special meetings.

#### SECTION 4: QUORUM AND VOTING

- A. At all meetings the members in attendance will constitute a quorum. All resolutions must be approved by majority vote.
- B. All members attending a meeting where a vote is taken shall have one vote. There shall be no proxy voting and no absentee ballots with the exception of annual officer elections.

#### SECTION 5: CLUB EVENTS

Club events shall be open to all members.

#### SECTION 6: EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Only executive committee members shall have voting privileges at these meetings. Attendance shall be limited to the executive committee, as outlined in Article VI - Section 2, and invited guests. The time and place of these meetings shall be announced to the entire membership, if time permits.

### ARTICLE IV

#### SECTION 1: NUMBER OF OFFICERS

The members shall elect from among themselves six officers: President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, Sergeant-At-Arms, and Membership Officer.

#### SECTION 2: ELECTION OF OFFICERS

- A. A nomination committee shall be named by the executive committee in September of each year. This committee shall provide a slate of candidates for elective offices. If a member of this committee decides to run for an office, they will be required to end their participation on this committee.
- B. Recommendations of candidates for office shall be made at the October meeting by the nominating committee. Nominations can also be made from the floor, with a seconding nomination. Nominations for all offices will be closed at the end of the October meeting. Nominations shall not be reopened unless only one candidate has been nominated for any given office. Nominations for these offices only, shall be reopened at the November meeting. An official list of all candidates shall be published in newsletter following the November meeting.
- C. Elections shall be held at the December meeting. Nominations shall not be reopened at the December meeting.

- D. Election of officers shall be determined by a majority of the valid ballots cast at the December meeting. Active members for a period of less than three months shall be ineligible to vote.
- E. An active member for a period exceeding three months shall be eligible to run for any office, but only one office. Members shall be allowed to run as a team for the office of President and Vice-President, only if they choose to do so.
- F. No person shall be placed on the election ballot that currently holds, or is a candidate for, an office in any other Metropolitan St. Louis Corvette organization.
- G. Dues must be current by the December meeting. All persons on the election ballot must be current in their dues. Membership cards with the due date of dues must be presented at the time ballots are handed out at the December meeting.
- H. Absentee ballots will be allowed if submitted to the Membership Chairman at least one week prior to the December meeting. These ballots must be accompanied by proof of paid up dues for the next calendar year. Membership Chairman shall then validate all absentee ballots prior to the election.

### SECTION 3: RESIGNATION OR VACANCY

In the event an officer resigns or has to vacate office before his/her term expires, a majority of the remaining officers shall appoint someone to fill the office for the remainder of the term.

### SECTION 4: TERM OF OFFICE

All elected officers shall hold office for a period of one-year beginning January 1 and ending December 31 of that year, unless reelected. The Treasurer shall only hold that office for two consecutive terms. After one term out of office, that person can hold that office again.

## ARTICLE V

### SECTION 1: DUTIES OF THE PRESIDENT

The President shall preside at all meetings of the officers and members and shall perform the duties required as Chief Executive Officer of the club.

### SECTION 2: DUTIES OF THE VICE-PRESIDENT

In the absence of the President or in the case of a resignation or inability to act, the duties usually performed by that office shall be assumed by the Vice President, who shall also serve as the Chairperson of the activities committee and shall appoint members as necessary to that committee. He or she shall also maintain the roster for the 100% patch award.

### SECTION 3: DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the members and officers, and shall record all minutes and votes. He or she shall be responsible for maintaining the clubs' permanent records, giving notice of meetings, and for all other duties assigned by a majority of the clubs officers. In the absence of the Secretary, a Secretary pro tem shall be named by the presiding officer for that meeting.

### SECTION 4: DUTIES OF TREASURER

The Treasurer shall attend all meetings of the members and officers. The Treasurer shall, subject to conditions and restrictions made by the officers, have custody of all moneys, debts, and financial obligations of the club. He or she shall make all payment of club debts upon approval of the President. All contracts, checks, drafts, notes or other payments shall be signed in the name of the club by the Treasurer and countersigned by the President. He or she shall give a bond, at club expense, if required by the officers. The Treasurer shall file a report as to the financial status of the club at each monthly meeting and; if so requested, at any officers meeting. No obligation, debt, or other liability shall be incurred by the Treasurer without specific approval of the officers.

### SECTION 5: DUTIES OF THE SERGEANT-AT-ARMS

The Sergeant-At-Arms shall attend all meeting of the members and officers. He or she shall preside on the floor of the meeting room to assist in preserving order as the Chair may direct. The Sergeant-At-Arms shall be responsible for the administration of the "50/50" program.

### SECTION 6: DUTIES OF THE MEMBERSHIP OFFICER

The Membership Officer shall attend all meetings of the members and officers. He or she shall be responsible for providing application forms to all perspective members, information about club activities, membership cards, and a copy of the club's by-laws to each new member. He or she shall participate in as many club functions as possible and promote growth and enthusiasm for the club.

### SECTION 7: DUTIES OF THE PUBLICATION OFFICER

The Publication Officer will be appointed by the Executive Committee and shall be entitled to all executive committee rights. The term of office will be reviewed as required and full executive committee support will be given to the office. The duties shall be to provide a newsletter to all members, information about club activities, members, and Corvettes in general. Reasonable and just expenses incurred to fulfill this duty shall be satisfied with moneys from the club treasury upon approval of the

President. All information to be included in the newsletter must be in the hands of the Publication Officer by the 20th of each month.

#### **SECTION 9: DUTIES OF THE NCM AMBASSADORS**

The National Corvette Museum Ambassadors will be appointed by the Executive Committee and shall be entitled to all executive committee rights. The duties shall be to maintain communication with the National Corvette Museum in Bowling Green, KY. He or she may also sponsor fund raising efforts within the club to promote the activities of the museum.

#### **SECTION 10: DUTIES OF THE WEBMASTER**

The OCC WEBMASTER will be appointed by the Executive Committee and shall be entitled to all executive committee rights. The duties shall be to maintain the club's website and to update it with current event calendar, officer information, and other information of interest to the club members.

### **ARTICLE VI**

#### **SECTION 1: APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES**

The President shall, from time to time, appoint such committees as he or she finds necessary, and shall outline the duties and responsibilities of these committees. All reports and/or actions taken by these committees must be approved by a majority of the committee. In addition to the authority granted herein, certain standing committees, as set forth shall be appointed by the Vice President.

#### **SECTION 2: EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

The Executive Committee is established to organize, prepare and follow through on plans for the club. They will meet as necessary, between regular club meetings, to answer all questions brought forward at regular meetings and will report their findings. The Executive Committee shall consist of all current officers and all past Presidents and Vice Presidents in good standing since the founding of the club. The Executive Committee shall review proposed amendments to the by-laws and shall present their recommendations to the membership at any regular meeting. Voting on any amendments will take place at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

### SECTION 3: ACTIVITIES COMMITTEE

- A. The activities of the club shall consist of planned trips, social gatherings, and events planned by the Activities Committee for all members, honorary members and Corvette owners.
- B. When the club is asked to participate in, to establish, or to sponsor an activity by an outside organization for a donation to the club, the donation shall be paid as soon as possible.
- C. The club is willing to subsidize an event from the club treasury up to \$100.00 if funds are available. Above this amount, pre-approval is necessary from the Executive Committee.

## **ARTICLE VII**

### SECTION 1: FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the club shall be from January 1 to December 31.

### SECTION 2: PROCEEDS OF THE "50/50" PROGRAM

Proceeds of the 50-50 program at the monthly meetings are to be deposited to the General Revenue Account.

### SECTION 3: LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS

Should the club disband, all club funds will be donated to a local recognized charity selected by the officers.

## **ARTICLE VIII**

### SECTION 1: PERSONAL LIABILITY

All persons or corporations extending credit to, contracting with, or having any claims against the club or its officers, shall look only to the funds or property of the club for payment of any debt, damage, judgment, decree, or any other money that may otherwise become due or payable to them from the club or the officers. Neither the members of the club nor the officers, past or present, shall be personally liable.

## **ARTICLE IX**

### **SECTION 1: SPONSORS**

- A. The preferred major sponsor of the club shall be a Chevrolet dealership.
- B. Sponsors shall be limited to space advertising at any activity, as approved by the officers.
- C. Any advertisements, other than the sponsor's, shall not be allowed unless approved by the officers.

## **ARTICLE X**

### **A. 100% PATCH**

Awarded to any member that attends all regularly scheduled meetings (January through December and the current sponsor's car show).

### **B. OFFICER AWARDS**

In appreciation for services rendered during their term(s) of office, the O.C.C. will honor those who choose to serve, with suitable awards, all elected officers. All appointed positions that require more than eight months will also be honored. Club shirts will also be provided to the officers with their name and position indicated. These shirts to be worn at club events to identify officers of the club to new members and guests that might be attending.

### **C. EVENT CHAIRPERSON AWARD**

In recognition of the work required to initiate and complete a successful event, the Chairperson and Co-Chairperson for any event will be awarded a small commemorative item funded by the club treasury.